

Politecnico di Torino

Master's Degree in Ingegneria per l'Ambiente e il territorio, Tutela Ambientale

A.a. 2022/2023

Master's degree thesis

Development of a methodology to assess soil carbon stock stability in the presence of microbial activity

Supervisors

Prof.ssa Tiziana Tosco

Prof.ssa Aeppli Meret

Candidate Marmello Giulia

December 2023

Table of Contents

Sι	ımma	ary	8
1.	In	troduction	9
	1.1	The importance of carbon cycle	9
	1.2	Carbon in soil	. 11
	1.3 phys	Stabilization pathways of C in soil, C dynamics in soil (biochemical alteration and icochemical protection)	. 13
	1.4	Soil organic carbon classification: the new soil continuum model	. 15
	1.5	Rock Eval: a new method to analyse soil organic matter	. 18
2.	Μ	ethods	. 23
	2.1	General organization of the experiments	. 23
	2.1.1	Microorganisms description	. 25
	2.2	Model soil preparation	. 25
	2.2.1	Sand pre-treatment	. 25
	2.2.2	Soil mixing	. 26
	2.3	Water Holding Capacity Test	. 27
	2.4	Liquid inoculum preparation	. 28
	2.4.1	Preparation of LB Liquid Medium	. 28
	2.4.2	Preparation of the liquid colture	. 28
	2.4.3	Preparation of the Tryptic Soy Broth	. 29
	2.5	Calculation of the amount of liquids needed	. 30
	2.6	Inoculation of soil	. 30
	2.7	Water Extractable Organic Carbon extraction	. 30
	2.8	POM & MAOM	. 32
	2.9	Direct Chloroform extraction	. 32
	2.10	TOC & TN	33
	2.11	Rock Eval	34
	2.12	Rock Eval results correction	35
3.	Re	esults and discussion	37
3.	1	Water Extractable organic Carbon and Nitrogen at end of incubation	38
3.	2	Water Extractable Nitrogen results	40
3.	3	Chloroform extraction results	44
3.	4	Rock Eval results	45
3.	4.1	тос	45
3.	4.2	TpkS2	50
3.	physicochemical protection131.4Soil organic carbon classification: the new soil continuum model151.5Rock Eval: a new method to analyse soil organic matter182.Methods232.1General organization of the experiments232.1.1Microorganisms description252.2Model soil preparation252.2.1Sand pre-treatment252.2.2Soil mixing262.3Water Holding Capacity Test272.4Liquid inoculum preparation282.4.1Preparation of LB Liquid Medium282.4.2Preparation of the liquid colture282.4.3Preparation of the Inyptic Soy Broth292.5Calculation of soil302.7Water Extractable Organic Carbon extraction302.8POM & MAOM322.9Direct Chloroform extraction322.10TOC & TN332.11Rock Eval342.12Rock Eval results correction35		

I and R index	
omprehensive analysis of results	59
clusions	60
	61
	62
	64
phy	65
	omprehensive analysis of results

List of Figures

Figure 1: Representation of carbon fluxes among different environmental compartments('DOE Explainsthe Carbon Cycle' 2023)9
Figure 2: Carbon fluxes quantification (Friedlingstein et al. 2019)10
Figure 3: Carbon short and long-term cycle10
Figure 4: Carbon dynamic in soil (Jansson et al. 2021)12
Figure 5: Clay composition (Ghadiri, Chrzanowski, and Rohanizadeh 2015)14
Figure 6: Integration of molecular, spatial and temporal complexity with management and prediction of soil carbon sequestration (Lehmann et al. 2020)
Figure 7: Comparison new and traditional view (Lehmann and Kleber 2015)16
Figure 8: Comparison new and traditional view (Lehmann and Kleber 2015)16
Figure 9: SOM component (Lavallee, Soong, and Cotrufo 2020)17
Figure 10: Rock Eval 6 complete analysis, serial process19
Figure 11: Curves resulting from Rock Eval method (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b)19
Figure 12: Example of HI/OI index representation (D. Sebag et al. 2016)
Figure 13: I-R index example of Umbrisols samples(D. Sebag et al. 2016)
Figure 14: Experiment's scheme24
Figure 15: Analysis made at the different timepoints
Figure 16: General scheme of the experiments25
Figure 17: Acid washing of the sand26
Figure 18: Soil after autoclave26
Figure 19: Subdivision of the soil samples in the jars27
Figure 20: Water holding capacity test27
Figure 21: Water holding capacity test results28
Figure 22: Liquid coltures
Figure 23: WEOC extraction procedure, after mixing
Figure 24: WEOC extraction procedure, after centrifuge

Figure 25: Injection of air to volatilize residual Chloroform
Figure 26: Filtration of the liquid extracted
Figure 27: Sample for Rock Eval 34
Figure 28: Carousel used to insert multiple samples in the Rock Eval
Figure 29: Example of CO2 curve with peak (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b)
Figure 30: Example of typical CO2 emission curve in the combustion phase, obtained from the experiments
Figure 31: WEOC results, represented for the different soil textures
Figure 32: WEOC results, represented for the different soil treatments
Figure 33: WEOC results, box plot representation
Figure 34: WEOC results, box plot representation
Figure 35: WEOC results, box plot representation 40
Figure 36: WEN results, represented for the different soil textures
Figure 37: WEN results, represented for the different soil treatments
Figure 38: C:N ratio, represented for the different soil textures
Figure 39: C:N ratio, represented for different soil treatment
Figure 40: C:N ratio, box plot representation
Figure 41: C:N ratio, box plot representation
Figure 42: C:N ratio, box plot representation
Figure 43: TOC results at the beginning of the incubation
Figure 44: TOC results at the end of incubation 46
Figure 45: TOC values before and after the incubation, comparison of results
Figure 46: TOC at the beginning of the incubation, box plot representation
Figure 47: TOC at the end of the incubation, box plot representation
Figure 48: TOC results, box plot representation comparing beginning and end of incubation 48
Figure 49: TOC results, box plot representation comparing beginning and end of incubation 49
Figure 50: Percentage variation of TOC during the incubation

Figure 51: TpkS2 results, comparison between starting and ending point	50
Figure 52: Percentage variation of Tpks2	51
Figure 53: TOC-TpkS2 graph, representation for soil textures	51
Figure 54: TOC-TpkS2 graph, representation for soil treatment	52
Figure 55: HI/OI graph results	52
Figure 56: Percentage variation of HI index	53
Figure 57: Percentage variation of OI index	53
Figure 58: I index box plot representation for soil treatment	54
Figure 59: I index box plot representation for soil textures	54
Figure 60: R index box plot representation for soil treatment	55
Figure 61: R index box plot representation for soil textures	55
Figure 62: Percentage variation of the I index	56
Figure 63: Percentage variation of the R index	56
Figure 64: I-R index representation of all the samples	57
Figure 65: I-R index representation of the relevant samples, represented for soil texture	57
Figure 66: I-R index representation of the relevant samples, represented for soil treatme	ent 58

List of tables

Table 1: Parameters acquired with the Rock Eval 6 (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b)	21
Table 2: Combinations used	23
Table 3: TSB component	29
Table 4: Calculation of liquids to add	30
Table 5: Correspondence between sample and numeric values	37
Table 6: Chloroform Extraction results	44
Table 7: TOC, POM, MAOM and WEOC results	61

Summary

Given that carbon is one of the most ubiquitous elements on Earth and plays a crucial role in the global carbon cycle, comprehending the fluxes of carbon among environmental compartments and identifying the factors influencing these fluxes is of fundamental importance. Moreover, the continuous emissions of CO_2 and greenhouse gases accentuate the significance of soil, already recognized as one of the Earth's largest carbon reservoirs, as a promising resource to sequester carbon dioxide from the atmosphere in the form of soil organic carbon.

With the paradigm shift from the conventional classification of soil organic matter based on humic substances to the emerging framework of the soil continuum model, innovative techniques have been under development to characterize this organic matter. Among these methods, the Rock Eval is a promising technique for quantifying soil organic matter and assessing its stability. This method involves a pyrolysis followed by combustion of a desiccated sample and was initially created for evaluating the petroleum potential of geological sources. In recent years, it has found application in studying the dynamics and persistence of soil organic carbon in the environment.

The core objective of this research project is to use the Rock Eval technique to establish a methodology for investigating the impact of various microorganisms on soil organic matter. This study represents the initial phase of a broader research aimed at producing microbial consortia able to increase carbon storage in soils. To achieve this, distinct microorganisms, both bacteria and fungi, were introduced into sterilized laboratory-prepared soils of varying textures, supplied with a readily available source of nutrients, and maintained at a constant temperature for one month. Samples were taken at the beginning and conclusion of the incubation period and analysed with the Rock Eval method for total organic carbon (TOC) and its stability. Furthermore an attempt was done to analyse the composition of the TOC in terms of Water Extractable Organic Carbon and Nitrogen, mineralogical and particulate fractions.

The results derived from the Rock Eval method revealed a decrease in the total organic carbon, as anticipated due to bacterial proliferation, followed by an enhancement in the thermal stability of the organic matter in certain samples. The methodology developed in this work can be applied to future investigations involving more complex soil types and microbial communities, supporting the identification of optimal microbial consortia to enhance carbon sequestration in soil.

1. Introduction

Soil organic matter and soil organic carbon have always been widely investigated due to their high importance in the carbon cycle, agriculture, and soil health. In the last years the characterization of soil organic carbon has shifted from the "humic substances" vision to the so-called soil continuum model, a new approach that focuses more on the total carbon and its forms in the environment. Furthermore the role of microorganisms in soil is strongly related to soil organic matter, and for these reasons, finding a methodology to study the qualitative and quantitative variations in soil organic carbon is always more important. This study aims to define a methodology to evaluate the quantitative variation of soil organic carbon and its thermal stability under different microbial consortia. This study was developed at SOIL lab of EPFL (Lausanne) and represents the first step of a research project conducted by the SOIL Lab in collaboration with the company YpHen. The results of this research will be useful, among other purposes, also to understand if the company's products have a positive impact on soil organic carbon stabilization.

1.1 The importance of carbon cycle

The carbon cycle is a fundamental process leading the transfer of carbon among various components, including plants, animals, microbes, minerals in the Earth, water bodies, and the atmosphere. Carbon, as the fourth most abundant element in the universe and fifteenth on earth (Jane B. Reece, Lisa A. Urry, Michael L. Cain et al, 2019), plays a crucial role in sustaining life on Earth. This cycle holds significant importance as it helps regulate the Earth's temperature by controlling the levels of carbon dioxide present in the atmosphere. In fact, CO₂ is connected to the greenhouse effect, and the recent constant release by humans in the atmosphere of CO₂ itself or of other greenhouse gasses is leading to the increase of temperatures and climate changes. ('Climate and the Carbon Cycle: Unit Overview', 2023). Human activities have a substantial impact on this cycle, primarily through the combustion of fossil fuels, alterations in land use, and the utilization of limestone for concrete production. These activities result in substantial carbon emissions into the atmosphere, leading to a rapid increase in atmospheric carbon dioxide levels (US Department of Commerce 2023).



Figure 1: Representation of carbon fluxes among different environmental compartments('DOE Explains...the Carbon Cycle' 2023)



Figure 2: Carbon fluxes quantification (Friedlingstein et al. 2019)

The carbon cycle can be seen as composed of a short-term cycle, or biogenic cycle, involving the exchange of carbon between the atmosphere, land, and oceans, and a long-term cycle also known as the geological carbon cycle, involving the exchange of carbon between the Earth's crust, rocks, soil, oceans, and atmosphere (Horwath 2015).



Figure 3: Carbon short and long-term cycle

Human activities have a significant impact on the carbon cycle. Some of the ways in which human activities affect the carbon cycle include:

- Burning fossil fuels: The combustion of fossil fuels, such as coal, oil, and gas, releases carbon dioxide into the atmosphere at a rate that exceeds its natural removal process. This leads to an increase in the concentration of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere ('What Human Activities Affect the Carbon Cycle?', 2023)
- Deforestation: involving the removal of trees, deforestation reduces the amount of carbon that can be absorbed by plants through photosynthesis, resulting in an increase in of atmospheric carbon dioxide levels ('7.4: Human Impacts on the Carbon Cycle', 2019)
- Land use changes: those alterations, such as converting forests into agricultural land, can also contribute to increase the amount of CO₂ in the atmosphere

- Cement production: The production of cement, which involves the use of limestone, releases carbon dioxide into the atmosphere('Carbon Cycle', 2023)
- Industrial processes: these activities affect the carbon cycle primarily through the release of carbon dioxide into the atmosphere. The burning of fossil fuels, such as oil, coal, and natural gas, releases stored carbon into the atmosphere, contributing to the greenhouse effect and global warming ('What Human Activities Affect the Carbon Cycle?', 2023)

Collectively, all human activities resulted in a 9.7 Pg CO_2 increase in the atmosphere in 2012 (Peters et al., 2013).

Canadell et al. 2010 identified four emerging effects of the modification of the carbon cycle as consequences of human activities in the literature:

- Natural carbon reservoirs on land and in oceans are becoming increasingly vulnerable, and their efficiency as carbon sinks may be decreasing, leading to enhanced carbon emissions from natural systems and faster atmospheric CO₂ accumulation
- The excess of anthropogenic emission of CO₂ is causing ocean acidification
- The methane cycle and its future dynamics are highly sensitive to climatic factors

Soil plays a crucial role in mitigation of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, as it constitutes more than two-thirds of terrestrial carbon reserves. Studies focusing on strategies to increase its capacity to capture carbon are in continue development (Rodrigues, Brito, and Nunes 2023). It has been estimated that the net uptake of carbon dioxide by soil corresponds approximately to one fifth of the annual anthropogenic carbon dioxide emissions due to the use of fossil fuels (Friedlingstein et al. 2019) and it has been proven that an increase in the temperature will decrease carbon storage in soils (Hartley et al. 2021).

Furthermore, changes in temperature and moisture levels affect microbial and biotic activity, resulting in alteration of the microbial decomposition of organic matter. Several studies have shown that an increase in air temperature accelerates the decomposition of organic matter, leading to higher carbon losses from soil and decrease in the carbon stocks.

1.2 Carbon in soil

Soil is a complex and dynamic natural material that plays a crucial role in supporting life on Earth and is a mixture of organic matter, minerals, gases, liquids, and organisms that together support the life of plants and soil organisms ('What Are Soils? | Learn Science at Scitable' n.d.).

Carbon in soil can be found both in organic and inorganic forms. Soil Inorganic Carbon (SIC) consists of primary and secondary inorganic carbonates. Calcium in surface soil reacts with atmospheric CO_2 and water, leaching into the subsoil and subsequently precipitating as secondary carbonates and sequesters atmospheric CO_2 directly to the soil.

Organic Carbon in Soil (SOC) could be separated into active or labile and passive or recalcitrant pools. Labile organic C pool has rapid turnover rate and can easily oxidize into the atmosphere; on the other hand, it fuels the soil food chain, hence influencing nutrient cycling, maintaining soil productivity. The recalcitrant pool of SOC is slowly used by microbes, contributing to the enrichment of the SOC stock and sustainability of the production system. Changes in C stock and the distribution of C into active and passive pools depend on crop management, type and biochemistry of organics added, crop residue management, climate, and soil environment (Majumder et al. 2018). Carbon buildup and stabilization in soil is a function of the quality and

quantity of the organic inputs applied. The application of different sources of different organic inputs has a significant effect on the manipulation of C stock and the allocation of C into different pools (Majumder et al. 2018).

Carbon is introduced into the soil through root exudates or by the decomposition of root or aboveground biomass. Within the soil matrix, carbon is present in various forms: as components of root or microbial biomass, in the form of bioavailable labile organic carbon, or in a more resilient, recalcitrant carbon state. The exit of carbon from the soil occurs through direct emissions or as a result of root or microbial respiration, with microbial-mediated soil respiration standing out as the primary contributor to terrestrial ecosystem CO_2 emissions. Additionally, carbon is lost from the ecosystem in the form of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and methane (CH₄) (Jansson et al. 2021).



Figure 4: Carbon dynamic in soil (Jansson et al. 2021)

Soil Carbon sequestration occurs when the C intake in soil from the atmosphere is higher than the C released from the soil and microorganisms respiration. At the same time not only the sequestration is important, but also the stability of the new carbon sequestered, which depends on multiple different factors (Jastrow, Amonette, and Bailey 2007).

Soil microbial community (SMC) plays a major role in carbon cycling and its activity has been considered as the main driver of variation in the potential stock of carbon in soils. The composition of the SMC is crucial for preserving soil ecosystem services, as its structure and activity also regulates the turnover and delivery of nutrients, as well as the rate of soil organic matter (SOM) decomposition. The SMC not only regulates the rate of C decomposition, but also influences the formation of soil aggregates and the impact of agronomic practices, primarily mediated by short and long-term dynamics of SMC (Bhattacharyya et al. 2022).

Moreover Kallenbach, Frey, and Grandy 2016 demonstrated that SOM accumulation is driven by distinct microbial communities rather than clay mineralogy, where microbial-derived SOM accumulation is greatest in soils with higher fungal abundances and more efficient microbial biomass production. Alterations in SOM chemical composition influence its stabilization potential, interaction with clay minerals and potential responses to anthropogenic disturbances.

Grandy and Neff (2008) argued that soil carbon turnover, its variation across ecosystems and its response to perturbation can be understood through the interaction of three components:

- 1. the deposition of chemically distinct compounds in soil from plants (Spaccini et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2004)
- 2. The conversion of these plant-originated substances by bacteria and fungi through the use of external enzymes, as well as the absorption and re-release of carbon compounds when microorganisms die (Fierer and Schimel, 2003; Waldrop and Firestone, 2004)
- 3. the physical redistribution and stabilization of carbon in soils which includes transport, aggregation of soil particles and adsorption mechanisms (Jastrow et al., 1996; Mikutta et al., 2006; Grandy and Robertson, 2007).

1.3 Stabilization pathways of C in soil, C dynamics in soil (biochemical alteration and physicochemical protection)

Even if different points of view can be found in the literature regarding soil organic carbon stabilization pathways, most of them recognizes that C stability in soil depends not only on the chemical formula and stability, but also on other external environment factors.

According to Lützow et al. (2006) SOM is stabilized mainly through two mechanisms:

- The formation of Mineral-Associated Organic Matter (MAOM), which is the result of interactions between the SOM molecules and the mineral soil component forming bonds (stronger thanks to ligand exchange or weaker through Van der Waals forces)
- The formation of aggregates which constitute a protecting environment for SOM by altering its physical accessibility for uptake (Bhattacharyya et al. 2022)

Similarly two major mechanisms has been described to stabilize SOM: (bio)chemical alteration and physicochemical protection. With (bio)chemical alteration, SOC is transformed by biotic and abiotic processes to chemical forms that are more resistant to decomposition and more easily retained by sorption to soil solids. With physicochemical protection, the biochemical attack of SOC is inhibited by organo-mineral interactions at molecular to millimetre scales. Stabilization of decomposable SOC can occur via sorption to mineral and organic soil surfaces, occlusion within aggregates, and deposition in pores or other inaccessible locations. Soil structure controls and indicates the SOC stabilization capacity of a soil, one potential option for reducing SOC turnover and enhancing sequestration, is to modify the soil physicochemical environment to favour the activities of fungi (Jastrow, Amonette, and Bailey 2007).

Kopittke et al. 2020 also showed that newly added organic matter can form organo-mineral associations not only thanks to N-rich microbial metabolites attached directly to mineral particles, but also forming associations with already existing mineral-bounded organic matter.

However, current knowledge of OM evolution and sequestration in soils (Schmidt et al. 2011; Lehmann and Kleber 2015) suggests that, all the processes can be related to two main mechanisms. First, in the organic soil horizons, the preferential decomposition of immature biopolymers leads to the relative increase in refractory SOM compounds. Conversely, in organomineral and mineral soil horizons, the increased contributions of the refractory SOM compounds should be linked to an increased mineral protection (i.e. adsorption on mineral surfaces) of progressively decomposing organic compounds (D. Sebag et al. 2016; Lehmann and Kleber 2015).

In soils where clay and silt concentrations are high, physical protection should dominate C stabilization mechanisms. Evidence for this includes the close relationship between soil C concentrations and both clay content and aggregation (Six et al., 2002; Shaver et al., 2003), as well as the fact that the turnover times of physically protected C may be an order of magnitude greater than particulate C (Balesdent, 1996). The stabilization of different forms of C varies across size classes, but the molecular structures can be altered by N fertilization, tillage and, very likely, other ecosystem alterations that modify microbial communities and their access to substrates. (Grandy and Neff 2008).

Clay mineralogy is a key parameter for chemical protection of SOC. Clay can be seen as composed by two main building blocks, silica tetrahedron and aluminium octahedron, that can be spatially disposed with different combinations ('Soil Chemistry/Clay Minerology', 2023). It is possible to identify the so called:

- 1:1 clay, composed of one tetrahedral sheet and one octahedral sheet, like kaolinite
- 2:1 clays, constituted by two tetrahedral sheets on either side of an aluminium octahedral sheet as montmorillonite and vermiculite



Figure 5: Clay composition (Ghadiri, Chrzanowski, and Rohanizadeh 2015)

Jastrow, Amonette, and Bailey (2007) shows that 2:1 clay minerals provide higher surface-charge density than 1:1 minerals, providing more sites for complexation with organics.

According to a more recent vision soil organic carbon persistence can be understood as a result of functional complexity derived from the interplay between spatial and temporal variation of molecular diversity and composition (Lehmann et al. 2020).



Figure 6: Integration of molecular, spatial and temporal complexity with management and prediction of soil carbon sequestration (Lehmann et al. 2020)

1.4 Soil organic carbon classification: the new soil continuum model

The traditional approach to the study of soil organic matter involved the first step of separating the organic and inorganic components, in order to allow subsequent further studies of the organic matter. This organic matter extraction involves the addition to the soil sample of a sodium hydroxide solution, characterized by a very high pH equal to 13, which allows the ionization of most oxygen-containing functional groups and enhancing the water solubility of organic compounds ('International Humic Substances Society (IHSS). What Are Humic Substances?' 2023). With the addition of protons to the solution, a dark solid forms, commonly referred to as 'humic acid', while the remaining organic matter that stays soluble after reacidification is termed 'fulvic acid'. The substantial portion of organic matter that does not react to the treatment, either due to a lack of ionizable functional groups or protection from the alkaline treatment by minerals, is designated as 'humin' (Schnitzer 2001).

However this extraction procedure is characterized by different conceptual problem, identified by Lehmann and Kleber (2015):

- a. The extraction is always incomplete, with an extraction rate around 50-70%, although the use of the alkaline solution leads to the extraction of soil fractions not meant to be "humic substances" such as living biomass.
- b. The high pH of the used solution leads to an exaggerated chemical reactivity rather than isolates the compounds
- c. The definition of humic substances results as synthesis product without a link to the alkaline extraction is incorrect.

As consequence of the individuation of those problems Lehmann and Kleber (2015) identified a new view stating that organic matter exists as a continuum of organic fragments continuously processed by the microbial community in molecules of smaller size. This breakdown of molecules results in the decrease of the size of the primary plant material and a consequent increase in polar and ionizable groups, characterized by higher solubility in water. This leads to a higher mobility in the soil water, but at the same time to an higher reactivity towards mineral surfaces and incorporation into aggregates, giving a higher protection against further decomposition. This new view, represented in Figure 7 and Figure 8, and compared with the traditional view:



Figure 7: Comparison new and traditional view (Lehmann and Kleber 2015)



Figure 8: Comparison new and traditional view (Lehmann and Kleber 2015)

Despite the changes in the paradigm the concept of stability of organic carbon in soil remains one of the main points of soil organic matter study. The traditional classification of soil organic matter shifted from the concept of humic substances to the soil continuum model (SCM), with the division between particulate organic matter (POM) and mineralogical-associated organic matter (MAOM), different in term of their formation, persistence, and function (Lavallee, Soong, and Cotrufo 2020).

With this new vision soil organic matter is classes are identified only by their dimensional characteristics:

- POM between 53 μm and 2 mm, generally characterised by light fragments, relatively undecomposed
- MAOM smaller than 53 μm, which consist of single molecules or microscopic fragments of organic material (directly leached or microbial transformed)
- Dissolved organic carbon (DOM), also called Water extractable organic carbon (WEOC), being smaller than 0.45 $\mu m.$



Figure 9: SOM component (Lavallee, Soong, and Cotrufo 2020)

The main distinction between MAOM and POM lies in the level of protection they receive from decomposition. MAOM is protected against decomposition thanks to its connection with soil minerals, whereas POM lacks this protection. MAOM protection occurs through various mechanisms, such as the formation of chemical bonds between soil organic matter and mineral surfaces, as well as its confinement within micropores or small aggregates measuring less than 50-63 μ m. These mechanisms collectively make SOM less accessible to decomposers and their enzymes, as described in studies conducted by Lehmann and Kleber 2015, Kögel-Knabner et al. 2008 and Totsche et al. 2018.

A further classification of soil organic matter can include also density characteristics, leading to the definition of light and heavy POM, that may be useful in order to understand the general POM dynamics in comparison to the MAOM one (Cotrufo 2015).

1.5 Rock Eval: a new method to analyse soil organic matter

Over the years, several methods have been developed for the study of soil organic matter, both in a quantitative and qualitative way (Chenu, Rumpel, and Lehmann 2015):

- Fractionation methods, chemical or physical: these methods aim to subdivide the complex continuum of SOM to identify and characterize its constituents and to isolate functional pools.
- Characterization methods, can include wet chemical methods for analyses of biochemical SOM constituents and Spectroscopic methods to characterize functional groups: the objective is the molecular characterization of SOM composition, essential because most pedological processes operate at the molecular scale. Those methods allow to extend the understanding of SOM and its components origin and transformation processes
- Visualization methods: allow to gain morphological information on SOM to have better understanding of its spatial heterogeneity, dynamics or roles. Those procedures allow to locate SOM within its natural environment and study its relationship with mineral soil constituents, its accessibility to decomposers, or its contribution to soil structure.

Among all the methods available, particularly interesting is the Rock Eval method, which allows for both quantitative analysis of the carbon stock in soil and qualitative studies related to various indices. These indices can be obtained either directly from certain instrument measurements or as a result of data computation.

Born in 1970s at the French Institute of Petroleum (IFPEN), the Rock Eval method was developed initially to study the total organic carbon and oil potential of petroleum source rocks ('IFPEN | Rock-Eval® : Thermal Analysis of Rocks and Soils' 2023). This approach allows to quantify the amount of free hydrocarbons and the one potentially released after maturation (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001a). After the first optimizations of this process in the petroleum field, the Rock Eval method also began to be used for the study of total organic carbon and mineral organic carbon in soils, demonstrating its relevant application in this field (D. Sebag et al. 2006; Malou et al. 2020; Hazera et al. 2023; D. Sebag et al. 2016; Disnar et al. 2003).

The principle of the Rock Eval method is to measure the release of carbon compounds from the gradual thermal degradation of the sample, exposed to a programmed increase of temperature ('IFPEN | Rock-Eval[®] : Thermal Analysis of Rocks and Soils' 2023). In particular, in the latest version used of this method, Rock Eval 6, the sample undergoes to:

- A first step of pyrolysis, performed in an inert atmosphere (helium or nitrogen), where the sample is heated under non isothermal condition up to 650°C;
- To reach the total oxidation of the sample the pyrolysis is followed by a combustion under artificial air (20% N₂, 80% O₂) of the residual carbon, reaching 850°C (D. Sebag et al. 2006; Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b; D. Sebag et al. 2016).

Through the whole process the amount of CO and CO_2 released are measured on line with a infrared cell (IR). Furthermore, during the pyrolysis step a Flame Ionization Detector (FID) measures the release of hydrocarbons (HC). The two combustion chambers, the IR cell and the FID are combined in one instrument outlined in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Rock Eval 6 complete analysis, serial process

The values of HC, CO and CO_2 emissions can be plotted over the temperature obtaining the following important curves for each sample as represented in Figure 11:



Figure 11: Curves resulting from Rock Eval method (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b)

Those curves can be split into different temperature range, as shown in Figure 11, and the integral of these curves are helpful to obtain different information. These integral are referred as S, meaning with S the integral of a specific part of the curve. The signal corresponding to the emission of HC is divided into two parts:

- S1, which is the integral of the part of the curve below 300°C, and usually represents the thermovaporized free hydrocarbons present in the sample
- S2 integrates the part of the curve registered after reaching 300°C until the end of the pyrolysis, represents the hydrocarbons released from the cracking of sedimentary organic matter (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b).

Also the signal measured from the IR detectors are split as follows (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b; D. Sebag et al. 2006; Lafargue, Marquis, and Daniel 1998):

- CO measurements in the pyrolysis phase are separated in two parts:
 - S3CO is the part of the curve measured until a minimum in the emission of CO is reached, this area represents the release of CO linked to organic matter
 - $\circ~$ S3'CO integrates the second part of the curve till the end of the step, and is a consequence of the reactivity CO_2 released during the thermal decomposition of carbonate
- CO measurements during the oxidation phase corresponds to S4CO area, knowing that all the carbon measured as CO is of organic origin
- CO₂ measurements in the pyrolysis phase can be split into:
 - \circ S3, which integrates the curve below 400°C, being the CO₂ with organic origin
 - $\circ~$ S3', which integrates the curve after 400°C until the end, corresponding to a mineral origin
- CO₂ measurements in the oxidation phase is separated into:
 - \circ S4CO₂ corresponds to the integral of the curve between 300°C and the temperature at which a minimum is reached, usually between 500°C and 720°C, with an organic origin of the carbon
 - S5 is the remaining area of the curve after the minimum, corresponding to an inorganic origin of the carbon

Starting from these areas, the Total Organic Carbon (TOC) is calculated with the following equation (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b):

$$TOC \ (\%) = \frac{\left[0.83 * (S1 + S2) + \frac{12}{44} * (S3 + S3' + S4CO_2) + \frac{12}{28} * (S3CO + S3'CO + S4CO)\right]}{10}$$

With the same method also the Mineral Carbon is equal to :

$$MinC = \frac{\left[\frac{12}{44} * S3' + \frac{12}{28} * \frac{1}{2}S3'CO + \frac{12}{44} * S5\right]}{10}$$

Another important parameter obtained directly from the pyrogram is the so called TpkS2 or Tps2, which corresponds to the temperature at which the peak of HC release occurs during pyrolysis (David Sebag et al. 2022). This parameter is connected to the thermal maturity of the organic matter in the sample, higher is the TpkS2 higher is the thermal stability of the compounds (D. Sebag et al. 2006).

Acquisition parameters	Detector/Oven	Unit	Name
S1	FID/Pyrolysis	mg HC/g rock	Free hydrocarbons
<u>S2</u>	FID/Pyrolysis	mg HC/g rock	Oil potential
TpS2	-	°C	Temperature of peak S2 maximum
<u>S</u> 3	IR/Pyrolysis	mg CO ₂ /g rock	CO_2 organic source
<i>S3'</i>	IR/Pyrolysis	mg CO ₂ /g rock	CO_2 mineral source
TpS3'	-	°Č	Temperature of peak S3' maximum
S3CO	IR/Pyrolysis	mg CO/g rock	CO_2 organic source
<i>TpS3</i> CO	-	°C	Temperature of peak S3CO maximum
<i>S3'</i> CO	IR/Pyrolysis	mg CO/g rock	CO organic and mineral source
S4CO ₂	IR/Oxidation	mg CO ₂ /g rock	CO_2 organic source
<i>S5</i> ⁻	IR/Oxidation	mg CO ₂ /g rock	CO_2 mineral source
TpS5	_	°C	Temperature of peak S5 maximum
S4CO	IR/Oxidation	mg CO/g rock	CO organic source

Table 1: Parameters acquired with the Rock Eval 6 (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b)

From the FID and IR measurements other two indexes, can be estimated (David Sebag et al. 2022; Disnar et al. 2003; Delahaie et al. 2023):

- The Hydrogen Index (HI) [mg HC/g soil], is the amount of HC released during pyrolysis relative to the TOC, and is associated to the origin of the organic matter and its thermal stability. An increase in the HI indicates a higher hydrogen content suggesting a less thermally stable organic matter.
- The Oxygen Index (OI) [mg CO₂/g soil], corresponds to the amount of CO₂ released during the pyrolysis phase, is related to the level of oxidation of the organic matter and its elemental stoichiometry. In this case an increase in the OI indicates a higher oxygen content, suggesting a more oxidized organic matter.

Usually those two indexes are represented in the same graph, as shown in the figure below:



Figure 12: Example of HI/OI index representation (D. Sebag et al. 2016)

In 2006 D. Sebag et al. demonstrated how from the deconvolution of the S2 peak it was possible to obtain further insights into the soil organic matter composition and identify the so called I and R index. Starting from these considerations the I and R indexes have been reviewed, using an integration factor instead of deconvolution. These two indexes assess the contribution to the thermal stability of SOM, being:

- I-index (I for immature) related to the contribution of thermally labile immature SOM;
- R-index (R for refractory) related to the contribution of thermally stable OM (D. Sebag et al. 2016).

R-index 0 1 0.2 0.3 07 0.0 05 0.6 1.0 04 0.8 09 ŝ Umbrisols (Swiss Plateau) 1.0 0.5 -index O horizons 0.0 A horizons B horizons -0.5 -1.0 - -2

A very useful representation of those index is the I-R diagram, as shown in

Figure 13: I-R index example of Umbrisols samples(D. Sebag et al. 2016)

When soils are characterized by homogeneous pedological processes, the I and R index present a distinct linear relationship, as shown in Figure 13. This linear relationship between the I and R indices can be attributed to the characteristic signature of soil organic matter stabilization processes: the decomposition of biopolymers increases the refractory SOM compounds and increased mineral protection of decomposing organic compounds.

2. Methods

2.1 General organization of the experiments

The objective of this experiment is to investigate, with the use of the Rock Eval method, the variations in soil organic carbon in soils with different soils textures in the presence of different microorganisms. To reduce the number of variables in this experiment, a simulated model soil was created in the laboratory using a mixture of sand and clay. Additionally, the model soil was inoculated with microorganisms, a source of easily decomposable organic matter (Tryptic Soy Broth), and a predetermined amount of water to achieve a specific moisture content.

To generate a range of soil textures in the model soils, kaolinite clay and pre-treated sand were combined on a dry weight basis. Kaolin clay was ordered by Sigma Aldrich, while Sand with particle size between 0.1 and 3 mm was ordered by the local company Carlo Bernasconi AG. The following soil textures were chosen based on the typical range of clay content present in Swiss soils ('SoilMaps' 2023) :

- 20% clay and 80% sand (20%)
- 10% clay and 90% sand (10%)
- 5% clay and 95% sand (5%)

For each soil texture, 3 different microorganism amendments were used, and for each combination triplicates were prepared:

- Trichoderma asperellum (received from company, colture on a potato agar plate) (T)
- Streptomyces sp. (DSM 687) (received from University of Zurich, frozen strains) (S)
- Trichoderma asperellum and Streptomyces together (TS)
- Control set without any microorganisms (C)

Soil texture	Microorganisms	Replicate
20% clay	Trichoderma	3
	Streptomyces	3
	Trichoderma +Streptomyces	3
	Control	3
10% clay	Trichoderma	3
	Streptomyces	3
	Trichoderma + Streptomyces	3
	Control	3
5% clay	Trichoderma	3
	Streptomyces	3
	Trichoderma + Streptomyces	3
	Control	
	Total jars	36

Table 2: Combinations used

Counting the triplicates in total 36 jars with around 100g of soils were prepared, with the scheme in Figure 14:



Figure 14: Experiment's scheme

To ensure that the correct amount of liquid was added to each jar, an experiment was conducted to determine the Water Holding Capacity (WHC) of each soil texture. The results of this experiment were then utilized to estimate the appropriate quantity of liquid broth needed to supply organic matter for the growth of microorganisms. To maintain osmotic balance between the two liquids, a mixture of deionized water and NaCl was added, having a salt concentration that corresponds to the one of the broth, equal to 10 g/l.

The jars were placed in a closed incubator, devoid of sunlight, and incubated for a period of 4 weeks at a constant temperature of 25°C. To facilitate the exchange of gases between the jar and the environment while maintaining consistent water content and contamination between the different treatments, the jars were covered with parafilm. This protective covering allows for gas exchange while preventing water from escaping, thereby ensuring the stability of soil moisture throughout the incubation period (Miller 2021).

The samples taken at the beginning of the incubation period were only tested using the Rock Eval method, without any specific pretreatments, while the samples at the end of the incubation were analysed for water extractable organic carbon, microbial biomass using the Chloroform direct extraction method, and Rock Eval on the total fraction, MAOM and POM.

The timeline of the analysis made is shown in Figure 15 and Figure 16.



Figure 15: Analysis made at the different timepoints



Figure 16: General scheme of the experiments

2.1.1 Microorganisms description

Trichoderma asperellum is frequently isolated from soil samples, especially from the rhizosphere, which is the narrow region of soil that is directly influenced by root secretions and associated microorganisms (Sehim et al. 2023). This microorganism is characterized by a high growth rate in culture medium, indicating its rapid proliferation under suitable conditions, and efficient sporulation (Gupta et al. 2014). The characteristics of this microorganism make it a valuable resource for sustainable and environmentally friendly approaches to crop protection and disease control (Matas-Baca et al. 2022; Wu et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2021).

Streptomyces sp. (DSM 687) is a versatile bacterium found in diverse environments, particularly in the rhizosphere of plants like tomatoes, suggesting its potential as a plant growth-promoting rhizobacterium. Other Streptomyces strains, such as Streptomyces sp. TOR3209, have demonstrated the ability to enhance the growth of various plants and exhibit antimicrobial properties against phytopathogens, positioning them as promising biocontrol agents for plant disease management (Hu et al. 2020). Streptomyces sp. (DSM 687) and related strains offer valuable attributes for sustainable agricultural practices, including plant growth promotion and biocontrol of plant diseases (Liu et al. 2013).

2.2 Model soil preparation

2.2.1 Sand pre-treatment

To ensure the removal of any carbonate present in the sand and facilitate accurate Total Organic Carbon (TOC) calculations, a process of acid washing was performed prior to use. Approximately 3.5 kg of sand was measured, and a 1% hydrochloric acid solution was prepared starting from concentrated acid. This involved mixing 10 ml of 37% hydrochloric acid in 1000 ml of solution.

To execute the acid washing, filter cones were placed on plastic bottles to collect the acid waste in a fume hood. A small quantity of sand was then washed at a time to allow the acid to evenly penetrate throughout the sand. The sand was initially saturated with the acid solution, followed by three subsequent rinses with deionized water to eliminate any remaining traces of acid.



Figure 17: Acid washing of the sand

Approximately each time 300g of sand where treated with 250 ml of acid and the three washing with water required 1 l of deionized water. The wet sand was then let dry overnight at 85°C.

The clay utilized in this study is Kaolinite and was not subjected to any pre-treatment to achieve homoionic conditions (Domeignoz-Horta et al. 2020). However, the composition of the clay was examined through X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) analysis. This analysis was conducted to determine the presence of various ions within the clay, as the composition of ions can potentially influence the stability of soil organic carbon (Rakhsh et al. 2017).

2.2.2 Soil mixing

The amount of each soil texture needed for the experiment was first hand mixed in big glass jars on a dry weight basis and then autoclaved once at 125°C for 25 min with a wet cycle in order to sterilize the soil. These amount of soils were weighted with the jar before and after the autoclave cycle in order to estimate the amount of water absorbed by the soil during the sterilization process and to allow a more homogeneous distribution of soil between all the jars.



Figure 18: Soil after autoclave

The jars used for the experiments could not undergo to autoclaving and for this reason in order to ensure sterile condition the jars were washed with ethanol 70% and let dry open in the fume hood for around 30min/1 hours and then labelled.

In the end around 100g of autoclaved soil of each soil texture were added in each jar, ready for the liquid inoculum addition and water.



Figure 19: Subdivision of the soil samples in the jars

2.3 Water Holding Capacity Test

In order to evaluate the correct amount of liquid to add to the model soils a water holding capacity test was done on all the three soil textures. Other than the previous described soil textures an additional one composed by 30% of clay and 70% of sand was tested. Between 40 and 43 grams of model soil of each texture were inserted in a tubes open on both sides, one closed with a Whatman #40 filter and a rubber band. Those tubes were immerged in water for 10 minutes until fully saturated and then positioned on a tube holder in order to allow the water to percolate out of the tubes. The tubes where weighted before the immersion in water, one hour after the extraction from the water and then 4 hours and 12 hours after.



Figure 20: Water holding capacity test

Since some of the clay left the tube despite the filters, the first attempt of the experiment was followed by a drying of the tubes overnight to evaluate the new dry weight. The difference in weight of the dry sample before and after the experiment was considered negligible and for this reason the experiment was repeated and then the values of the water holding capacity where evaluated starting from the average result of the two experiments.

Furthermore the soil texture corresponding to 20% of clay content, in the second replication of the experiment, visibly lost some clay in the first step of immersion in the water. In order to check the validity of the value obtained for that sample, a linear interpolation of the values of the other soil textures has been done. The value of WHC identified with the linear interpolation for a soil

containing 20% of clay was equal to the one obtained with the calculations, for this reason the value obtained has been considered valuable for the next steps.



Figure 21: Water holding capacity test results

The water holding capacity was then calculated as:

$$WHC = \frac{wet \ weight_{10min} \ (g) - dry \ weight_{12h}(g)}{dry \ weight_{12h}(g)} = g_{water}/g_{soil}$$

Knowing the average weight of each soil sample equal to 100 g, the total amount of liquid to add was calculated as equal to the 60% of the total water holding capacity of each soil texture:

$$Liquids = 60\% WHC$$

2.4 Liquid inoculum preparation

2.4.1 Preparation of LB Liquid Medium

To prepare the liquid medium for microorganisms growth before the soil inoculation 50 g of LB broth powder for 2 litre of medium were mixed and autoclaved. To reach the amount of broth needed in each 1l bottle 25g of LB broth were added and then around 0.7 l of deionized water was added and the solution was mixed till complete dissolution of the powder in the liquid. Finally water till reaching 1l in each flask was added, then was divided into 3 flask to allow enough headspace in each bottle to autoclave at 125° for 25 min.

The pH of the broth was checked with a pH paper and resulted equal to 7.0, for this reason any adjustment with NaOH or HCl was needed.

2.4.2 Preparation of the liquid colture

The medium was let cool down to room temperature before proceeding to the inoculation step. Inoculation of Trichoderma from agar plates and Streptomyces from liquid colture tubes to LB medium.

The fume hood work area was disinfected with 70% ethanol and approximately 30 ml of sterile LB liquid medium were transferred in a sterile glass using a sterile pipette. For the Trichoderma inoculum approximately 2 cm² of the agar plate were removed from the plate and added to the

sterile broth, ensuring that the mycelium is transferred to the medium, and then mixed using the vortex for around 20 seconds. Finally the jar was filled with sterile broth and closed.

For the streptomyces the frozen sample were retrieved by mixing with the vortex to ensure an homogeneous suspension, than repeating the same procedure used for the Trichorderma, 2 ml of the streptomyces samples were added to the sterile broth.

In order to check the compatibility of the two microorganisms also a mixed liquid colture was prepared, adding around 1 cm^2 of Trichoderma sample and 1 ml of streptomyces colture in the same glass with sterile LB broth.



Figure 22: Liquid coltures

All the different liquid colture were than left first at 25°C in the incubator to start the growth of the microorganisms for 3 days, after moved at room temperature of 21°C for other 5 days. Each day the jars were open and shaken in a sterilized fume hood in order to ensure the presence of oxygen inside the liquid colture, since both organisms are aerobic.

2.4.3 Preparation of the Tryptic Soy Broth

As source of easy organic matter for the microorganisms a solution of concentrated Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB) was used, since its carbon content is higher than the LB broth. In order to reach approximately 0.12 g of carbon in each jar the TSB solution was prepared mixing 50g of TSB powder in 1l of deionized water.

Component	Final concentration
Component	Final concentration
Pancreatic Digest of Casein	34 g/l
Papaic Digest of Soya Bean	6 g/l
Sodium Chloride	10 g/l
Dipotassium Hydrogen Phosphate	5 g/l
Glucose Monohidrate	5 g/l

Table	3:	TSB	com	ponent
TUDIC	<u> </u>	100	COTT	ponene

After mixing the powder with water the solution was autoclaved at 125°C for 25 minutes.

2.5 Calculation of the amount of liquids needed

To ensure the same condition of soil saturation the amount of liquids added to each jar were calculated starting from the WHC values of each soil texture. To each jar a total of 2ml of liquid colture were added, corresponding to 2g. Furthermore, an equal addition of nutrients to each jar was important and, to ensure the addition of the maximum amount of nutrients, the amount of TSB was calculated starting from the minimum WHC value, as follows:

*Liquids*_{5%} = 60% *WHC*_{5%}

$TSB = Liquids_{5\% clay soil} - Liquid inoculum$

In the end, the amount of water needed to reach in all the jars the wanted WHC value was calculated as:

$Water = Liquids_{each soil texture} - TSB$

Soil texture	WHC (g _w /g _{soil})	60% WHC	Liquids [g _{liquids} /jar]	Water to add after the inoculum [g]	TSB	water to add at the end [g]
5% clay	0.125	0.075	7.5	5.5	5.5	0
10% clay	0.16	0.096	9.6	7.6	5.5	2.1
20% clay	0.23	0.138	13.8	11.8	5.5	6.3

Table 4: Calculation of liquids to add

2.6 Inoculation of soil

In each jar filled with model soil were added firstly the liquid colture for each group of samples:

- Trichoderma only 2 ml of liquid colture
- Streptomyces only 2 ml of liquid colture
- Trichoderma and Streptomyces 1ml of each liquid colture was added.

After the correct amount of TSB was added, and later water mixed with salt was used to reach the desired water content. The deionized water was mixed with NaCl (10 g/l) in order to reach the same concentration of salt as the TSB and ensure the same osmotic circumstances in the whole jar. Finally all the soils were mixed and samples of the time zero of the incubation were taken, before that the jars were placed in the incubator at 25°C and 50% fan option.

After 2 weeks the soil mixtures in the jars were hand mixed to ensure a better distribution of the microorganism in the soils since they were visibly present only on the surface of the model soils.

2.7 Water Extractable Organic Carbon extraction

Water-extractable organic matter (WEOM) refers to the portion of organic matter that can be dissolved and extracted from the soil using water, employing different laboratory methods. It represents the highly dynamic and mobile component of soil organic matter (SOM) (Sun et al. 2017), therefore influences a lot of ecologically relevant processes even id is only a small part of SOM.

Different methods to obtain the water extractable organic matter exist:

- Pressurized hot-water-extractable organic carbon (PH-WEOC)
- Water-extractable organic carbon (WEOC)
- Leaching -extractable organic carbon (LEOC)

Among them the WEOC was used (Guigue et al. 2014).

To evaluate the water extractable organic carbon approximately 5g of the soils at the endpoint of incubation were collected in 50ml tubes and stored at 4°C until the procedure, in order to decrease the microbial activity.

20 ml of ultrapure water were added to each sample and shaken at 120 rpm for 60 minutes, afterwards the samples were centrifuged for 15 minutes at 4600 g in order to ensure a better separation of the liquid from the solid phase and enhance the successive filtration.

The supernatant was then collected with a syringe and filtered with 0.45 μ m, the filters were previously washed with ultrapure water to release eventual DOC coming from the membrane. The collected liquid was then stored frozen before the TOC and TN analysis.



Figure 23: WEOC extraction procedure, after mixing



Figure 24: WEOC extraction procedure, after centrifuge

This procedure was performed only on the samples taken at the end of the incubation period, since at the starting point the organic source added was in a liquid form, hence all the carbon would have been water extractable.

2.8 POM & MAOM

To perform the Rock Eval analysis on the different fractions approximately 15g of soils were wet sieved with a 2mm and a 53 μ m and deionized water, the fractions collected were than dried in order to be powdered with a ball mill and used for the analysis. Rock Eval analysis were performed on a sample without previous sieving both at starting and endpoint of the incubation period, additionally on MAOM and POM fraction at the conclusion of the incubation period.

2.9 Direct Chloroform extraction

Chloroform is as an effective agent to eliminate living organisms, but it does not dissolve nonmicrobial organic matter found in the soil. Using potassium sulphate it is possible to extract soluble organic compounds, with the consequence that extracting DOC on Chloroform treated samples the DOC resulting will be related only to non microbial derived carbon. Performing the extraction with potassium sulphate on both samples treated and not with Chloroform and evaluating the TOC in them, through the difference in the amount of carbon between the two samples it will be possible to evaluate the microbial biomass carbon as follows:

 $\begin{array}{l} microbial \\ biomass \ C \end{array} = \begin{array}{l} C \ extracted \ from \\ not \ treated \ sample \end{array} - \begin{array}{l} C \ extracted \ from \\ Chloroform \ treated \ sample \end{array}$

It is important to note that the efficiency of the potassium sulphate extraction procedure is estimated to be approximately 45% according to Vance et al. in 1987, hence the final estimates of microbial biomass should be adjusted accordingly.

The procedure used to extract the microbial biomass is the Chloroform direct extraction method instead of the fumigation (Setia, Verma, and Marschner 2012), and the protocol used is the one from (Domeignoz-Horta et al. 2020).

From each jar approximately 4 grams of soil were taken, then separated in 2 different tubes in order to allow the different treatment. From each jar 2g of soils were treated with 0.250 ml of ethanol free Chloroform, added directly to the soil and then gently shaken. Afterwards in all the samples 10ml of 0.05 M Potassium sulphate solution (4°C) were added and vortex for about 5 seconds.

The samples were then shaken for 30 minutes at 175 rpm at room temperature, and subsequently let sit for around 30 minutes at 4°C to let the supernatant clear. With a pipette approximately 5 ml of supernatant were taken and filtered through Whatman filters #40. The samples not treated with Chloroform were ready for storage, while the Chloroform treated one were injected with air in order to volatilize the residual Chloroform. Using some needles air was injected inside the tubes for approximately 30 minutes, and after the samples were left open for another hour to ensure the total volatilization of the Chloroform before storing frozen waiting for the TOC and TN analysis.



Figure 25: Injection of air to volatilize residual Chloroform



Figure 26: Filtration of the liquid extracted

The amount of liquid obtained for this procedure was too low to ensure a TOC analysis with TOC analyser, and for this reason a 2:10 dilution was made, mixing 2 ml of liquid extracted with the procedure with 8 ml of ultrapure water at 4°C.

2.10 TOC & TN

TOC and TN analysis were performed on liquid samples for the water extractable organic carbon and Microbial biomass carbon using and Elementar Vario TOC Cube. With this instrument the result obtained is in term of mgC/I (or mgN/I), converted in mg/g_{soil} with the following equation:

$$TOC\left[\frac{mg}{g_{soil}}\right] = \frac{TOC\left[\frac{mg}{l}\right]}{1000\left[\frac{ml}{l}\right]} * \frac{liquid\ extracted\ [ml]}{soil\ mass\ used\ for\ the\ extraction\ [g]}$$

TOC analysis on solid samples were avoided since the Rock Eval analysis already gives this parameter with good accuracy compared to the TOC analysis, with the advantage of not requiring preliminary treatment such as decarbonatation (Disnar et al. 2003).

2.11 Rock Eval

Prior to Rock-Eval analysis, all samples were subjected to a drying process overnight at approximately 65°C in an oven. Subsequently, the dried samples were pulverized using a ball mill for a duration of 15 seconds at a frequency of 12 Hz. Between 60 and 80 mg of samples were analysed with this method with the following parameters:

- Pyrolysis
 - Starting temperature 200 °C
 - Final temperature 650 °C
 - Heating rate 25 °C/min
- Oxidation
 - Starting temperature 300 °C
 - Final temperature 850 °C
 - Heating rate 20 °C/min



Figure 27: Sample for Rock Eval



Figure 28: Carousel used to insert multiple samples in the Rock Eval

The analysis of the sample was performed at Sediment geochemistry lab of UNIL, and the results obtained with this method are:

- For each sample one file containing all the parameters, including the baseline values for the FID and infra-red cell to correct the results
- The thermograms for HC, CO and CO₂ both during pyrolysis and combustion
- One final excel with alle the values of TpS2, TOC, MINC, HI and OI

2.12 Rock Eval results correction

The result obtained with the analysis will have to be corrected taking into account different factors.

Even if the instrument is able to give as result the TOC and MINC separately, it is important to check if in the sample there is actually some mineral carbon. The instrument itself usually separates between mineral and organic carbon taking into account the temperature range in which the C is released, but the real difference between the two types of carbon is related not only to the temperature but also to the chemistry. To verify if the carbon accounted as mineral is actually mineral, the graph representing the emissions of CO_2 over the temperature during the oxidation phase must be controlled. If in this graph there is a clear peak ok CO_2 released after 600°C, there is carbonate in the sample and the results obtained from the instrument about TOC and MINC are correct. Otherwise if in the graph there isn't a clear peak after 600°C, also the carbon accounted as mineral will be organic, hence in this situation the TOC will be calculated as:

$$TOC_{real} = TOC + MINC$$

An example of the graph with (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b) and without (example of one sample) the peak is shown in

Figure 29 and Figure 30:



Figure 29: Example of CO2 curve with peak (Behar, Valérie, and Penteado 2001b)



Figure 30: Example of typical CO₂ emission curve in the combustion phase, obtained from the experiments

This situation is present in all the samples analysed, situation expected after the acid washing of the sand that had the purpose of removing most of the carbonates. For this reason the TOC has been calculated as sum of the TOC and MINC for all the samples. As consequence of this, also the values of HI and OI has been corrected as follows:

$$HI_{real} = \frac{(S2 * 100)}{TOC_{real}}$$
$$OI_{real} = \frac{(S3 + S3CO_2) * 100}{TOC_{real}}$$

Furthermore to evaluate the areas needed for the calculation of the different indices it is necessary to subtract the baseline value of the detectors from the values obtained, as follows:

$$HC_{real} = HC - Baseline_{HC}$$

 $CO_{real} = CO - Baseline_{CO}$
 $CO_{2real} = CO_2 - Baseline$
3. Results and discussion

To simplify the analysis of the samples and the representation, in the following results representation the different combinations of soil textures and treatment will be identified in some graphs with simple numbers. The correspondence between type of sample and number is shown in Table 5.

%Clay	Treatment	Replicate	N°
	Trichoderm	T-a	1
		T-b	2
		T-c	3
	Streptomyces	S-a	4
		S-b	5
200/		S-c	6
20%	Trichoderm+Streptomyces	TS-a	7
		TS-b	8
		TS-c	9
	Control	C-a	10
		C-b	11
		C-c	12
	Trichoderm	T-a	13
		T-b	14
		T-c	15
	Streptomyces	S-a	16
		S-b	17
10%		S-c	18
10%	Trichoderm+Streptomyces	TS-a	19
		TS-b	20
		TS-c	21
	Control	C-a	22
		C-b	23
		C-c	24
	Trichoderm	T-a	25
		T-b	26
		T-c	27
	Streptomyces	S-a	28
5%		S-b	29
		S-c	30
	Trichoderm+Streptomyces	TS-a	31
		TS-b	32
		TS-c	33
	Control	C-a	34
		C-b	35
		C-c	36

Table 5: Correspondence between sample and numeric values

3.1 Water Extractable organic Carbon and Nitrogen at end of incubation

The results obtained with the TOC analyser of the water extractable organic carbon in the samples taken at the end of the incubation are shown in Figure 31 and Figure 32.







Figure 32: WEOC results, represented for the different soil treatments

Those results can be also displayed in term of soil texture or type of treatment with box plot graphs in order to highlight mean values and variance:









In Figure 33 and Figure 34 it is possible to identify a low positive correlation between the percentage of clay in soil and the water extractable organic carbon; sample with higher amount of clay resulted in a slightly higher water extractable organic carbon measured.



The same representation can be applied to investigate a relation between the WEOC and the type of microorganisms added to the soil:

Figure 35: WEOC results, box plot representation

From this figure it is not possible to identify any relationships between the WEOC and the type of soil treatment used.

3.2 Water Extractable Nitrogen results

The results of water extractable nitrogen at the end of the incubation period are shown in Figure 36 and Figure 37.



Figure 36: WEN results, represented for the different soil textures



Figure 37: WEN results, represented for the different soil treatments

From those results and the WEOC ones it is possible to immediately evaluate the C:N ratio, which is important to the growth of microorganisms in soil. This ratio has been calculated and is shown in Figure 38:



Figure 38: C:N ratio, represented for the different soil textures



Figure 39: C:N ratio, represented for different soil treatment

The values obtained for the C:N ratio are very low if compared to the values registered in soils, around 8, or to the optimal value of 24 (Brust 2019, 9). This may be due to excessively high content of Nitrogen in the broth used as nutrient, or to problem in the measurements. The nutrient used is specific for microorganisms growth but it is possible that the source added was not enough to provide the necessary amount of organic matter for bacteria growth.

Again the results can also be displayed with box plot graphs that highlight the mean value and variance of the values, both for the different soil textures and treatment to highlight eventual pattern:



Figure 40: C:N ratio, box plot representation



Figure 41: C:N ratio, box plot representation



Figure 42: C:N ratio, box plot representation

In both cases there is no evidence of a correlation between C:N ratio and soil texture or type of treatment.

3.3 Chloroform extraction results

As described in the method chapter 2.9 an attempt to evaluate the microbial biomass at the end of the incubation period was performed. The results of the TOC analysis on the liquids for the two type of samples, Chloroform treated and not, and the results of the microbial biomass calculation are shown in Table 6.

%Clay	Treatment	Replicate	TOC not treated samples [mg/l]	TOC Chloroform treated samples [mg/l]	Microbial biomass [mg/gsoil]
		T-a	55.5	47.9	-84.3
	Trichoderm	T-b	50.2	57.3	78.3
		T-c	78.3	53.7	-273.2
		S-a	53.9	58.1	46.8
	Streptomyces	S-b	19.1	34.1	165.7
2007		S-c	40.7	43.2	27.3
20%	Tuislas damas a	TS-a	67.6	42.5	-278.9
	Trichoderm +	TS-b	45.8	45.7	-1.8
	Streptomyces	TS-c	40.9	48.5	85.1
		C-a	46.3	53.2	76.2
	Control	C-b	59.3	48.8	-116.3
		C-c	96.6	76.9	-218.5
		T-a	76.2	69.8	-70.8
	Trichoderm	T-b	39.6	51.4	131.4
		T-c	30.9	37.9	77.9
		S-a	44.9	42.7	-24.6
	Streptomyces	S-b	39.9	50.2	114.1
100/		S-c	41.8	50.6	97.7
10%	Trichoderm + Streptomyces	TS-a	37.3	33.5	-42.2
		TS-b	24.5	58.6	378.8
	Streptomyces	TS-c	33.5	27.8	-62.6
		C-a	38.7	55.1	181.1
	Control	C-b	32.1	45.1	144.3
		C-c	34.8	85.4	562.4
	Trichoderm	T-a	34.0	43.5	105.8
		T-b	38.2	59.9	241.4
		T-c	40.7	56.2	173.2
		S-a	49.6	31.3	-202.6
5%	Streptomyces	S-b	39.3	45.5	68.4
		S-c	29.6	39.6	110.7
	Trichodorra	TS-a	33.2	30.4	-31.1
	Trichoderm +	TS-b	31.9	31.1	-10.1
	Streptomyces	TS-c	29.7	36.1	70.4
		C-a	36.4	63.3	298.7
	Control	C-b	29.1	35.9	75.7
		C-c	27.8	32.6	53.1

Table 6:	Chloroform	Extraction	results
Tuble 0.	CHIOLOIO	Exclusion	results

From the results it is clear that some mistake has been done in the procedure, the results of the final microbial biomass are inconsistent since values are very variable in a range that goes from - 278.9 and 562.4 [mg/g_{soil}]. In particular it is clear that negative values of biomass present in the sample are not realistic.

3.4 Rock Eval results

3.4.1 TOC

The values obtained from the Rock Eval method about the TOC are in term of percentage of weight [%w] and the following results will be showed in this unit of measurement, which corresponds also to mg/g, hence mg_c/g_{soil} .





Looking at this series of data is clearly visible an outlier, characterized by a TOC equal to 0.5 mg/g, much higher if compared to the average values of the other sample, all below 0.25 mg/g. For this reason this specific sample, corresponding to the Trichoderma treatment, duplicate A, in a soil with 5% of clay, won't be taken in consideration for further evaluations.

The results of the TOC measurements on the total sample at the end of the incubation are shown in Figure 44.



Figure 44: TOC results at the end of incubation

At end of the incubation some samples has also been taken to perform the size separation to identify the composition of TOC in terms of POC, MAOM and WEOC (results in table 1 annex). Calculating the percentage of each component over the total the following mean values are obtained:

- WEOC = 110.83 % of the TOC
- MAOM = 1124.2 % of the TOC
- POM = 10.69 % of the TOC

It is clear that those results does not reflect the theorical/real distribution of the TOC in the different classes. The use of a model soil prepared in the lab, without any complex form of organic matter pre-existent or soil aggregates as we could find in real soils, helped with the interpretation of the final results from one side, but on the other is not properly representing the reality, hence those results cannot be used as base to formulate conclusions about what would happen in real situations.

Firstly avoiding the use of other sources of organic matter the only action happening during the incubation for the short period is the growth of microorganisms using the nutriments present in the broth added to the soil. Furthermore, the technique used to separate particulate and mineralogical associated organic matter involved a liquid separation. One clear consequence of this separation method is that all the aggregates present in the sample are destroyed, hence the particulate part will be very low since the totally disaggregated soil present at the beginning.

The excessive value correspondent to the MAOM could be explained with a concentration process that might occur as consequence of the method used. Collecting all the water deriving from the wet sieving and drying the sample leaded to a very low amount of dry soil to use for the Rock Eval. All the carbon present in the leachate, that if we compare to the WEOC seems be the majority of the TOC, will be concentrated in the small amount of solid remaining. Furthermore, being the sample smaller and well homogenised, the part that will be analysed for the TOC in the Rock Eval instrument will be very rich in C, almost all the carbon in the sample (starting from 5/10g of soil) ended up in around 1g of dried sample (all the carbon of 10 grams, concentrated in 1).

Finally it is useful to compare the TOC values before and after the incubation period, as shown in Figure 45.



Figure 45: TOC values before and after the incubation, comparison of results



The box plot representation of those values are shown in Figure 46 and Figure 47:

Figure 46: TOC at the beginning of the incubation, box plot representation



Figure 47: TOC at the end of the incubation, box plot representation

As expected the TOC in the sample slightly decreased due to microorganisms respiration, which is higher than microorganisms accumulating it for growth. It is still useful to investigate weather some treatment leaded to an higher decrease in TOC as in Figure 48 and Figure 49.









With the values of TOC at beginning and end of the incubation period it has been evaluated the variation of it for each sample and this decrease has been reported in terms of percentage of the initial value to allow the comparation between the different samples, taking into account the different amount of samples analysed. Those results are shown in the following graph:



Figure 50: Percentage variation of TOC during the incubation

This representation highlights an higher decrease of TOC in the samples treated with Streptomyces or Trichoderm+Streptomyces (yellow and pink), while any clear difference between the different soil textures is visible.

Figure 50 shows also how in the jar with the control samples (green in the figure) the variation of TOC are comparable to the ones in the jars with microorganisms treatment, except for the samples

with a 10% of clay as soil texture. Since in the "Control" there should be absence of microorganisms at the beginning of the incubation, and that during the incubation period the jars were closed with parafilm to avoid exchange of solids or liquid with the environment, the value of TOC decrease in the samples with 10% of clay seems more reasonable (less than 5%). The higher decrease in TOC in the other Control samples could be explained by a contamination between the different samples that might be occurred during the midpoint collection of samples from the jars.

3.4.2 TpkS2

Another important parameter obtained from the Rock Eval method is the so called TpkS2, corresponding to the temperature at which the peak of the S2 curve occurs. This value is related to the thermal stability of the organic matter present in the sample. The higher is the TpkS2, the higher will be the thermal stability of the organic matter. The values of TpkS2 at the two timepoints are represented in Figure 51.



Figure 51: TpkS2 results, comparison between starting and ending point

In this representation it is possible to see how for most of the samples the TpkS2 stayed almost unchanged during the experiment, with an exception for some samples.

As done for the TOC values, also the percentage variation of Tpsk2 has been calculated, the results are shown in Figure 52:



Figure 52: Percentage variation of Tpks2

From Figure 52 is possible to notice that soils with higher amount of clay, resulted in an higher increase in the value of Tpks2, hence in a more thermally stable organic matter at the end of the incubation period. This could be due to the protective effect of clay on organic matter (Chen et al. 2018) and the higher possibility of organo-mineral associations with clay particles.

An important representation that can be done with this data is particularly useful to plot the TpkS2 values with the TOC values, in order to highlight together the variation in the amount of TOC and its stability. To highlight any possible correlation between soil texture or soil treatment the graphs in Figure 53 and Figure 54 has been done.



Figure 53: TOC-TpkS2 graph, representation for soil textures



Figure 54: TOC-TpkS2 graph, representation for soil treatment

A group of samples clearly increase the value of TpkS2, and all of them were taken from a 20% clay soil texture samples at the end of the incubation period.

With the colour representation in Figure 54 it is possible to identify the same samples of the previous representation, which were treated with Streptomyces and Trichoderma + Streptomyces. Again the presence of Streptomyces seems to be connected to higher effects on the soil organic matter.

3.4.3 HI and OI

The results of the HI and OI index are shown in Figure 55:



Figure 55: HI/OI graph results

From this representation it is clear that no visible changes occurred during the incubation period. Also for HI and OI index the percentage variation in time was calculated and shown in Figure 56 and Figure 57.



Figure 56: Percentage variation of HI index



Figure 57: Percentage variation of OI index

The variation of HI index in Figure 56 did not show the same changes in all the combination of soil texture and treatment. The majority of combination showed a decrease in the HI index, suggesting an increase in the thermal stability of the organic matter, while the others showed the opposite behaviour, some with very high increase such as Streptomyces treatment in the 5% clay soil textures and the Trichoderm+Streptomyces in the soil containing 10% of clay.

Also in the case of the OI index the changes happened during the incubation period are various for different combinations, as showed in Figure 57. The samples presenting an increase in the OI index are characterized by an increase in the oxidation state of the organic matter.

It is also possible to note that no clear pattern between index variation and soil texture e/o treatment can be seen. These two indices are more commonly utilized in the petroleum field to identify crucial characteristics for oil utilization and extraction. For this reason further discussion on these findings will be omitted.

3.4.4 I and R index

The values of the I index are shown with a box plot representation, separated in Figure 58 by soil treatment and in Figure 59 by soil texture.



Figure 58: I index box plot representation for soil treatment





The same representation was made for the R index in Figure 60 and Figure 61.



Figure 60: R index box plot representation for soil treatment



Figure 61: R index box plot representation for soil textures

For all the soil the I index of the samples taken, Figure 58 and Figure 59, at the end of the incubation is lower than in the ones taken at the start. Meanwhile the R index increased in all the samples during the incubation period, Figure 60 and Figure 61.

To obtain more information about the factors influencing the changes in those index, their percentage variation has been calculated and plotted in Figure 62 and Figure 63:



Figure 62: Percentage variation of the I index



Figure 63: Percentage variation of the R index

It is possible to notice that for both the indexes, a higher effect was obtained with the soil treatment containing both Trichoderma and Streptomyces coltures. The parallel decrease in the I index and increase of R index shows how the thermal stability of the samples in the end has a higher contribution from the recalcitrant part of organic matter than the one from the labile one.

As explained in chapter 1.5 it is useful to represent the I and R index in the same graph to identify any relationship between those values.



Figure 64: I-R index representation of all the samples



Figure 65: I-R index representation of the relevant samples, represented for soil texture



Figure 66: I-R index representation of the relevant samples, represented for soil treatment

Figure 64 and shows the I-R index representation for all the samples analysed. While most of the samples show a linear relationship between the two index, the group of samples representing the particulate organic matter samples taken at the end of the incubation, and obtained through the wet sieving, are outside the expected pattern. As explained in chapter 3.4.1 those samples are not representative of the real POM and for this reason in the next representations only the samples taken at the beginning and the end of the incubation that did not undergo to any sieving are represented.

The I-R index graph show as expected a linear relationship, and is possible to conclude that thermal stability is mainly explained by the preferential decomposition of the most labile compounds, used by the microorganism for their growth.

3.5 Comprehensive analysis of results

Providing a comprehensive overview of the results concerning the TOC values, and the separation of the fractions of MAOM and POM in particular, it is clear that under the experimental conditions employed this separation was worthless. Utilizing pure clay and sand as initial components, and introducing only a readily biodegradable organic matter and microorganism, resulted, within one month of incubation, in the exclusive proliferation of bacteria. This process did not induce the formation of substantial aggregates in the formulated model soils, and the application of wet sieving further destroyed any potential aggregate present in the jars. It is advisable to avoid wet sieving in tests similar to those presented in this work, as it disrupts soil aggregates, and to start with a more representative soil environment.

The primary objective of these experiments was to identify a methodology and investigate the feasibility of various analysis to comprehend the effects of different microorganism consortia on soils. In this context, while chloroform extraction returned inconclusive results regarding the quantity of microorganisms grown in the jars, the Rock Eval method provided valuable insights into the effects of diverse soil. Particularly this method is very useful for the quantification of soil organic carbon without necessitating extensive pretreatment. Despite each sample analysis requires approximately one hour to be analysed, the entire process and analysis are integrated into a single instrument, with the operator only required to prepare dry and homogeneous samples, weighing them in designated capsules for analysis.

Once the Rock Eval is performed it is possible to obtain numerous indices useful to acquire information about the organic matter within in the sample. Even with the simple composition of the soil and uncertainties surrounding the quantity of microorganisms introduced to each jar and their subsequent growth, the Rock Eval method revealed variations in TOC quantity and thermal stability. Significantly, the I and R indices variations revealed that the contribution to the thermal stability of the samples from the recalcitrant fraction of organic matter increased, while the one from the labile fraction decreased.

This method further enabled the identification of differences in changes resulting from different combinations of soil treatment or soil texture, rendering it an interesting and useful tool for the development of more complex microorganism consortia capable of enhancing the carbon stock potential of specific soils.

4. Conclusions

In conclusion, this research has examined the intricate dynamics of soil organic carbon and the efficiency of the Rock Eval method in understanding the impact of microorganisms on soil organic matter. The study gave valuable insights to the broader understanding of carbon cycling in soils, highlighting the significance of comprehending fluxes and factors influencing these processes.

The paradigm shift from traditional soil organic matter classification to the emerging soil continuum model required innovative techniques to investigate soil organic matter, such as the Rock Eval method. This project used the Rock Eval method, originally used to investigate the petroleum potential of rocks, and showed the applicability of this method in quantifying soil organic carbon and assessing its stability, thereby expanding its traditional use to a more environmentally focused application.

The Rock Eval method proved instrumental in showing the impacts of different soil treatments. It provided a robust means of quantifying soil organic carbon without demanding extensive pretreatment. However, it is crucial to note that, given the small sample size used by the Rock Eval method, a higher number of samples for each soil analysed should be considered to ensure a better representativity of the whole system studied.

Furthermore, the method's ability to highlight the presence of hydrocarbons opens the door to an exciting prospect. The Rock Eval method could potentially be employed to develop microbial consortia that are not only helpful to soil remediation but also at increasing soil carbon stock. This dual functionality makes it a promising avenue for future research in the realm of sustainable soil management practices.

The method's efficacy in discerning variations in total organic carbon quantity and thermal stability, as evidenced by changes in the I and R indices, underscores its utility in understanding the contributions of recalcitrant and labile organic matter fractions to the SOM stability.

Despite the simplicity of the soil composition and uncertainties surrounding microbial quantities, the Rock Eval method emerged as a powerful tool for identifying differences resulting from diverse soil treatments or textures. This suggests its potential for further exploration in developing intricate microorganism consortia aimed at enhancing carbon sequestration in soils.

As next steps for future research, it is possible to explore the use of more complex microorganisms consortia and transition to real soils containing authentic organic matter. This progression will enhance the ecological relevance of the findings, providing a more accurate representation of soil dynamics and microbial interactions.

Annex A

Results of TOC, POM, MAOM and WEOC

	Starting point	Endpoint			
Sample	ТОС	TOC[mgC/gsoil]	POM	MAOM	WEOC
-	[mgC/gsoil]		[mgC/gsoil]	[mgC/gsoil]	[mgC/gsoil]
20TA1	0.17	0.15	0.03	0.46	0.107614
20TB1	0.19	0.11	0.02	0.6	0.134631
20TC1	0.18	0.13	0.02	0.43	0.127242
20SA1	0.19	0.11	0.04	0.51	0.126144
20SB1	0.19	0.12	0	0.57	0.086112
20SC1	0.2	0.09	0	0.56	0.086401
20TSA1	0.18	0.09	0	0.63	0.107848
20TSB1	0.18	0.1	0.02	0.52	0.101902
20TSC1	0.18	0.09	0	0.46	0.11334
20CA1	0.17	0.09	0	0.73	0.113404
20CB1	0.2	0.11	0	0.5	0.116357
20CC1	0.16	0.13	0.01	0.72	0.163102
10TA1	0.18	0.11	0.02	1	0.134341
10TB1	0.12	0.08	0.02	0.64	0.112275
10TC1	0.15	0.08	0.02	0.75	0.078594
10SA1	0.12	0.08	0.01	0.57	0.102865
10SB1	0.13	0.07	0.01	0.66	0.102035
10SC1	0.13	0.07	0.01	0.82	0.092406
10TSA1	0.13	0.06	0.01	0.57	0.09123
10TSB1	0.13	0.08	0	0.61	0.068838
10TSC1	0.15	0.07	0	0.71	0.068494
10CA1	0.1	0.11	0	0.75	0.093259
10CB1	0.11	0.1	0.01	0.79	0.063003
10CC1	0.09	0.08	0	0.78	0.090373
5TA1	0.5	0.07	0.01	1.02	0.061046
5TB1	0.12	0.08	0.02	1.39	0.087268
5TC1	0.13	0.08	0	1.71	0.117433
5SA1	0.17	0.07	0.02	1.28	0.070378
5SB1	0.14	0.07	0.01	1.4	0.09226
5SC1	0.13	0.05	0.01	1.36	0.082733
5TSA1	0.12	0.06	0	1.32	0.078559
5TSB1	0.13	0.06	0.01	0.98	0.064519
5TSC1	0.11	0.07	0	1.27	0.066643
5CA1	0.13	0.08	0.01	1.72	0.06577
5CB1	0.12	0.07	0	1.62	0.074223
5CC1	0.11	0.08	0	1.23	0.066993

Table 7: TOC, POM, MAOM and WEOC results

Annex B

X-ray fluorescence (XRF) analysis results for the clay.



Sample Name Method Sample Folder Sample Type Sample Status

. Operator GM Kaolinite Geochemistry Traces Powders July 2023 Powder A A A A X X X X Admin User



7/6/2023 2:29:13

-7/6/2023 2:10 PM 7/6/2023 2:11 PM

3.0000

-

Results - GM Kaolinite

The error is the statistical error with 1 sigma confidence interval

		Element	Concentration		Abs. Error	
11	Na₂O	Sodium oxide	< 0.012	%		-
12	MgO	Magnesium oxide	< 0.0017	%		-
13	Al_2O_3	Aluminium oxide	43.51	%		0.03
14	SiO₂	Silicon dioxide	56.96	%		0.03
15	P ₂ O ₅	Phosphorus pen-	0.06890	%		0.00088
tox						
16	SO ₃	Sulfur trioxide	0.1469	%		0.0007
17	C1	Chlorine	0.00096	%		0.00006
19	K₂O	Potassium oxide	0.1701	%		0.0003
20	CaO	Calcium oxide	0.01637	%		0.00011
21	Sc	Scandium	-			-
22	Τi	Titanium	8199	µg/g		3
23	V	Vanadium	142.1	µg/g		1.0
24	Cr	Chromium	116.3	µg/g		0.3
25	MnO	Manganese(II) oxide	6.0	µg/g		0.2
26	Fe₂O₃	Iron(III) oxide	0.6545	%		0.0007
27	Co	Cobalt	< 2.5	µg/g		-
28	Ni	Nickel	34.1	µg/g		0.4
29	Cu	Copper	12.6	µg/g		0.2
30	Zn	Zinc	43.8	µg/g		0.3
31	Ga	Gallium	53.6	µg/g		0.2
32	Ge	Germanium	2.1	µg/g		0.1
33	As	Arsenic	0.8	µg/g		0.1
34	Se	Selenium	0.24	µg/g		0.04
35	Br	Bromine	0.07	µg/g		0.03
37	Rb	Rubidium	4.49	µg/g		0.05
38	Sr	Strontium	45.0	µg/g		0.1
39	Y	Yttrium	6.0	µg/g		0.1
40	Zr	Zirconium	44.6	µg/g		0.1
41	Nb	Niobium	17.4	µg/g		0.1
42	Мо	Molybdenum	2.3	µg/g		0.1
44	Ru	Ruthenium	< 0.2	µg/g		-
45	Rh	Rhodium	< 0.2	µg/g		-
46	Pd	Palladium	< 0.2	µg/g		-
47	Ag	Silver	< 0.2	µg/g		-
48	Cd	Cadmium	0.7	µg/g		0.2
49	In	Indium	0.9	µg/g		0.3
50	Sn	Tin	2.8	µg/g		0.2
51	Sb	Antimony	1.0	µg/g		0.2
52	Те	Tellurium	1.7	µg/g		0.3
53	I	Iodine	2.9	µg/g		0.6
55	Cs	Cesium	5.2	µg/g		1.3



7/6/2023 2:29:13

56	Ва	Barium	44.6	µg/g	1.7
57	La	Lanthanium	38.8	µg/g	2.4
58	Ce	Cerium	46.6	µg/g	2.8
59	Pr	Praseodymium	30.4	µg/g	2.0
60	Nd	Neodymium	29.7	µg/g	0.7
62	Sm	Samarium	8.5	µg/g	0.5
70	Yb	Ytterbium	< 0.2	µg/g	-
72	Hf	Hafnium	1.2	µg/g	0.2
73	Та	Tantalum	< 0.8	µg/g	-
74	W	Tungsten	1.0	µg/g	0.4
79	Au	Gold	< 0.1	µg/g	-
80	Hg	Mercury	< 0.1	µg/g	-
81	т1	Thallium	< 0.2	µg/g	-
82	Pb	Lead	29.0	µg/g	0.2
83	Bi	Bismuth	0.8	µg/g	0.1
90	Th	Thorium	18.6	µg/g	0.1
92	U	Uranium	3.1	µg/g	0.1

Annex C

Data sheet of the sand used for the experiments.



Quarzsandmischung 0.10 - 3.20 mm

Produktbeschreibung

In unserem Werk werden natürliche Kristallquarzsande und Kiese nach selektiver Gewinnung mehrfach gewaschen und auf nassmechanischem Wege klassiert. Durch weitere Aufbereitungsprozesse in modernen Trocknungs- und Siebanlagen wird der feuergetrocknete Quarzsand in die einzelnen Fraktionen getrennt und in Silos gelagert.

	Zusatzinformation
Preis pro	Sack
Körnung in mm	0.10 - 3.20
Komform	Natürlich gerundet
Farbe	Grau
Verpackung	Plástiksack à 25 kg
Lagerort	Bärschwil, Bern
Zustand	Feuergetrocknet
	Technische Daten
Härte nach Mohs	
Schüngewicht in kg/m'	1'500
Spezifisches Gewicht in kg/m³	2'650
	Chemische Richtwerte
5102	96.30%
Al2O3	1.90%
K2O Na2	1.41%
Glühverlust	0,30%
CaO MgO	0.05%
Fe ₂ O ₃	0.04%
TiO2	008%

Bibliography

'7.4: Human Impacts on the Carbon Cycle'. 2019. Chemistry LibreTexts. 19 September 2019. https://chem.libretexts.org/Courses/Portland_Community_College/CH100%3A_Everyday_Chem istry/07%3A_Climate_and_the_Environment/7.04%3A_Human_Impacts_on_the_Carbon_Cycle.

Behar, F., Beaumont Valérie, and H. Penteado. 2001a. 'Rock-Eval 6 Technology: Performances and Developments'. *Oil & Gas Science and Technology* 56 (March). https://doi.org/10.2516/ogst:2001013.

———. 2001b. 'Rock-Eval 6 Technology: Performances and Developments'. *Oil & Gas Science and Technology* 56 (March). https://doi.org/10.2516/ogst:2001013.

Bhattacharyya, Siddhartha Shankar, Gerard H. Ros, Karolina Furtak, Hafiz M.N. Iqbal, and Roberto Parra-Saldívar. 2022. 'Soil Carbon Sequestration – An Interplay between Soil Microbial Community and Soil Organic Matter Dynamics'. *Science of The Total Environment* 815 (April): 152928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.152928.

Brust, Gerald E. 2019. 'Chapter 9 - Management Strategies for Organic Vegetable Fertility'. In *Safety and Practice for Organic Food*, edited by Debabrata Biswas and Shirley A. Micallef, 193–212. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812060-6.00009-X.

Canadell, Josep G, Philippe Ciais, Shobhakar Dhakal, Han Dolman, Pierre Friedlingstein, Kevin R Gurney, Alex Held, et al. 2010. 'Interactions of the Carbon Cycle, Human Activity, and the Climate System: A Research Portfolio'. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 2 (4): 301–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2010.08.003.

'Carbon Cycle'. 2023. June 2023. https://www.noaa.gov/education/resource-collections/climate/carbon-cycle.

Chen, Chunmei, Peter Leinweber, Kai-Uwe Eckhardt, and Donald L. Sparks. 2018. 'The Composition and Stability of Clay-Associated Organic Matter along a Soil Profile'. *Soil Systems* 2 (1): 16. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems2010016.

Chenu, Claire, Cornelia Rumpel, and Johannes Lehmann. 2015. 'Methods for Studying Soil Organic Matter'. In *Soil Microbiology, Ecology and Biochemistry*, 383–419. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-415955-6.00013-X.

'Climate and the Carbon Cycle: Unit Overview'. 2023. Climate and the Carbon Cycle. October 2023. https://serc.carleton.edu/eslabs/carbon/index.html.

Delahaie, Amicie A., Pierre Barré, François Baudin, Dominique Arrouays, Antonio Bispo, Line Boulonne, Claire Chenu, et al. 2023. 'Elemental Stoichiometry and Rock-Eval® Thermal Stability of Organic Matter in French Topsoils'. *SOIL* 9 (1): 209–29. https://doi.org/10.5194/soil-9-209-2023.

Disnar, J. R., B. Guillet, D. Keravis, C. Di-Giovanni, and D. Sebag. 2003. 'Soil Organic Matter (SOM) Characterization by Rock-Eval Pyrolysis: Scope and Limitations'. *Organic Geochemistry* 34 (3): 327– 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0146-6380(02)00239-5.

Domeignoz-Horta, Luiz A., Grace Pold, Xiao-Jun Allen Liu, Serita D. Frey, Jerry M. Melillo, and Kristen M. DeAngelis. 2020. 'Microbial Diversity Drives Carbon Use Efficiency in a Model Soil'. *Nature Communications* 11 (1): 3684. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17502-z.

Friedlingstein, Pierre, Matthew W. Jones, Michael O'Sullivan, Robbie M. Andrew, Judith Hauck, Glen P. Peters, Wouter Peters, et al. 2019. 'Global Carbon Budget 2019'. *Earth System Science Data* 11 (4): 1783–1838. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-11-1783-2019.

Ghadiri, Mali, Wojciech Chrzanowski, and Ramin Rohanizadeh. 2015. 'Biomedical Applications of Cationic Clay Minerals'. *RSC Adv*. 5 (March). https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA16945J.

Grandy, A. Stuart, and Jason C. Neff. 2008. 'Molecular C Dynamics Downstream: The Biochemical Decomposition Sequence and Its Impact on Soil Organic Matter Structure and Function'. *Science of The Total Environment* 404 (2–3): 297–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.11.013.

Guigue, J., O. Mathieu, J. Lévêque, S. Mounier, R. Laffont, P. A. Maron, N. Navarro, C. Chateau, P. Amiotte-Suchet, and Y. Lucas. 2014. 'A Comparison of Extraction Procedures for Water-Extractable Organic Matter in Soils'. *European Journal of Soil Science* 65 (4): 520–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12156.

Gupta, Vijai K., Monika Schmoll, Alfredo Herrera-Estrella, R. S. Upadhyay, Irina Druzhinina, and Maria G. Tuohy, eds. 2014. 'Preface'. In *Biotechnology and Biology of Trichoderma*, xi. Amsterdam: Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59576-8.05001-3.

Hartley, Iain P., Tim C. Hill, Sarah E. Chadburn, and Gustaf Hugelius. 2021. 'Temperature Effects on Carbon Storage Are Controlled by Soil Stabilisation Capacities'. *Nature Communications* 12 (1): 6713. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-27101-1.

Hazera, Joséphine, David Sebag, Isabelle Kowalewski, Eric Verrecchia, Herman Ravelojaona, and Tiphaine Chevallier. 2023. Adjustments of the Rock-Eval® Thermal Analysis for Soil Organic and Inorganic Carbon Quantification. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-2023-66.

Horwath, William. 2015. 'Carbon Cycling'. In *Soil Microbiology, Ecology and Biochemistry*, 339–82. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-415955-6.00012-8.

Hu, Dong, Shuhong Li, Ying Li, Jieli Peng, Xiaoyan Wei, Jia Ma, Cuimian Zhang, Nan Jia, Entao Wang, and Zhanwu Wang. 2020. 'Streptomyces Sp. Strain TOR3209: A Rhizosphere Bacterium Promoting Growth of Tomato by Affecting the Rhizosphere Microbial Community'. *Scientific Reports* 10 (1): 20132. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-76887-5.

'IFPEN | Rock-Eval[®] : Thermal Analysis of Rocks and Soils'. 2023. IFPEN. October 2023. https://www.ifpenergiesnouvelles.com/brief/rock-evalr-thermal-analysis-rocks-and-soils.

'International Humic Substances Society (IHSS). What Are Humic Substances?' 2023. November 2023. https://humicsubstances.org/whatarehs.html.

Jane B. Reece, Lisa A. Urry, Michael L. Cain et al. 2019. Campbell Biology (10th Edition). Pearson.

Jansson, Christer, Celia Faiola, Astrid Wingler, Xin-Guang Zhu, Alexandra Kravchenko, Marie-Anne de Graaff, Aaron J. Ogden, Pubudu P. Handakumbura, Christiane Werner, and Diane M. Beckles. 2021. 'Crops for Carbon Farming'. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 12. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2021.636709.

Jastrow, Julie D., James E. Amonette, and Vanessa L. Bailey. 2007. 'Mechanisms Controlling Soil Carbon Turnover and Their Potential Application for Enhancing Carbon Sequestration'. *Climatic Change* 80 (1–2): 5–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9178-3.

Kallenbach, Cynthia M., Serita D. Frey, and A. Stuart Grandy. 2016. 'Direct Evidence for Microbial-Derived Soil Organic Matter Formation and Its Ecophysiological Controls'. *Nature Communications* 7 (1): 13630. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13630.

Kögel-Knabner, Ingrid, Georg Guggenberger, Markus Kleber, Ellen Kandeler, Karsten Kalbitz, Stefan Scheu, Karin Eusterhues, and Peter Leinweber. 2008. 'Organo-Mineral Associations in Temperate Soils: Integrating Biology, Mineralogy, and Organic Matter Chemistry'. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 171 (1): 61–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.200700048.

Lafargue, E., Fernand Marquis, and Pillot Daniel. 1998. 'Rock-Eval 6 Applications in Hydrocarbon Exploration, Production, and Soil Contamination Studies'. *Oil & Gas Science and Technology-Revue De L Institut Francais Du Petrole - OIL GAS SCI TECHNOL* 53 (July): 421–37. https://doi.org/10.2516/ogst:1998036.

Lavallee, Jocelyn M., Jennifer L. Soong, and M. Francesca Cotrufo. 2020. 'Conceptualizing Soil Organic Matter into Particulate and Mineral-Associated Forms to Address Global Change in the 21st Century'. *Global Change Biology* 26 (1): 261–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14859.

Lehmann, Johannes, Colleen M. Hansel, Christina Kaiser, Markus Kleber, Kate Maher, Stefano Manzoni, Naoise Nunan, et al. 2020. 'Persistence of Soil Organic Carbon Caused by Functional Complexity'. *Nature Geoscience* 13 (8): 529–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-020-0612-3.

Lehmann, Johannes, and Markus Kleber. 2015. 'The Contentious Nature of Soil Organic Matter'. *Nature* 528 (7580): 60–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16069.

Liu, Gang, Keith F. Chater, Govind Chandra, Guoqing Niu, and Huarong Tan. 2013. 'Molecular Regulation of Antibiotic Biosynthesis in Streptomyces'. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews : MMBR* 77 (1): 112–43. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00054-12.

Lützow, M. v., I. Kögel-Knabner, K. Ekschmitt, E. Matzner, G. Guggenberger, B. Marschner, and H. Flessa. 2006. 'Stabilization of Organic Matter in Temperate Soils: Mechanisms and Their Relevance under Different Soil Conditions - a Review: Mechanisms for Organic Matter Stabilization in Soils'. *European Journal of Soil Science* 57 (4): 426–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.2006.00809.x.

Majumder, Shyam Prasad, Anantha Krishna Chaitanya, Ashim Datta, Dhaneshwar Padhan, Shrikant Badole, and Biswapati Mandal. 2018. 'Dynamics of Carbon and Nitrogen in Agricultural Soils: Role of Organic and Inorganic Sources'. In *Soil Management and Climate Change*, 151–69. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812128-3.00011-2.

Malou, Oscar Pascal, David Sebag, Patricia Moulin, Tiphaine Chevallier, Ndeye Yacine Badiane-Ndour, Abou Thiam, and Lydie Chapuis-Lardy. 2020. 'The Rock-Eval® Signature of Soil Organic Carbon in Arenosols of the Senegalese Groundnut Basin. How Do Agricultural Practices Matter?' *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 301 (October): 107030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2020.107030.

Matas-Baca, Miguel Ángel, Crescencio Urías García, Sandra Pérez-Álvarez, María Antonia Flores-Córdova, Cesar Marcial Escobedo-Bonilla, Marco Antonio Magallanes-Tapia, and Esteban Sánchez Chávez. 2022. 'Morphological and Molecular Characterization of a New Autochthonous Trichoderma Sp. Isolate and Its Biocontrol Efficacy against Alternaria Sp.' *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences* 29 (4): 2620–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.12.052. Miller, David. 2021. 'Parafilm: Frequently Asked Questions'. The Laboratory People. 20 January 2021. https://camblab.info/parafilm-frequently-asked-questions/.

Rakhsh, Fatemeh, Ahmad Golchin, Ali Beheshti Al Agha, and Parisa Alamdari. 2017. 'Effects of Exchangeable Cations, Mineralogy and Clay Content on the Mineralization of Plant Residue Carbon'. *Geoderma* 307 (December): 150–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.07.010.

Rodrigues, Cristina I. Dias, Luís Miguel Brito, and Leonel J. R. Nunes. 2023. 'Soil Carbon Sequestration in the Context of Climate Change Mitigation: A Review'. *Soil Systems* 7 (3): 64. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems7030064.

Schmidt, Michael W. I., Margaret S. Torn, Samuel Abiven, Thorsten Dittmar, Georg Guggenberger, Ivan A. Janssens, Markus Kleber, et al. 2011. 'Persistence of Soil Organic Matter as an Ecosystem Property'. *Nature* 478 (7367): 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10386.

Schnitzer, Morris. 2001. 'The in Situ Analysis of Organic Matter in Soils'. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 81 (3): 249–54. https://doi.org/10.4141/S00-064.

Sebag, D., J. R. Disnar, B. Guillet, C. Di Giovanni, E. P. Verrecchia, and A. Durand. 2006. 'Monitoring Organic Matter Dynamics in Soil Profiles by "Rock-Eval Pyrolysis": Bulk Characterization and Quantification of Degradation'. *European Journal of Soil Science* 57 (3): 344–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.2005.00745.x.

Sebag, D., E. P. Verrecchia, L. Cécillon, T. Adatte, R. Albrecht, M. Aubert, F. Bureau, et al. 2016. 'Dynamics of Soil Organic Matter Based on New Rock-Eval Indices'. *Geoderma* 284 (December): 185–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2016.08.025.

Sebag, David, Eric P. Verrecchia, Thierry Adatte, Michaël Aubert, Guillaume Cailleau, Thibaud Decaëns, Isabelle Kowalewski, Jean Trap, Fabrice Bureau, and Mickaël Hedde. 2022. 'Size Fractions of Organic Matter Pools Influence Their Stability: Application of the Rock-Eval® Analysis to Beech Forest Soils'. *Pedosphere* 32 (4): 565–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1002-0160(21)60050-4.

Sehim, Amira E., Omar A. Hewedy, Khadijah A. Altammar, Maryam S. Alhumaidi, and Rasha Y. Abd Elghaffar. 2023. 'Trichoderma Asperellum Empowers Tomato Plants and Suppresses Fusarium Oxysporum through Priming Responses'. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 14 (March): 1140378. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2023.1140378.

Setia, Raj, Suman Lata Verma, and Petra Marschner. 2012. 'Measuring Microbial Biomass Carbon by Direct Extraction – Comparison with Chloroform Fumigation-Extraction'. *European Journal of Soil Biology* 53 (November): 103–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2012.09.005.

'Soil Chemistry/Clay Minerology'. 2023. Bioremediation. November 2023. http://learnbioremediation.weebly.com/soil-chemistryclay-minerology.html.

'SoilMaps'. 2023. May 2023. https://www.wsl.ch/soilmaps/.

Sun, Han Yin, Philipp Koal, Georg Gerl, Reiner Schroll, Rainer Georg Joergensen, and Jean Charles Munch. 2017. 'Water-Extractable Organic Matter and Its Fluorescence Fractions in Response to Minimum Tillage and Organic Farming in a Cambisol'. *Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture* 4 (1): 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40538-017-0097-5.

Totsche, Kai Uwe, Wulf Amelung, Martin H. Gerzabek, Georg Guggenberger, Erwin Klumpp, Claudia Knief, Eva Lehndorff, et al. 2018. 'Microaggregates in Soils'. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 181 (1): 104–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.201600451.

US Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. 2023. 'What Is the Carbon Cycle?' June 2023. https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/carbon-cycle.html.

'What Are Soils? | Learn Science at Scitable'. n.d. Accessed 18 November 2023. https://www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/what-are-soils-67647639/.

'What Human Activities Affect the Carbon Cycle?' 2023. Sciencing. June 2023. https://sciencing.com/what-human-activities-affect-the-carbon-cycle-12083853.html.

Wu, Qiong, Ruiyan Sun, Mi Ni, Jia Yu, Yaqian Li, Chuanjin Yu, Kai Dou, Jianhong Ren, and Jie Chen. 2017. 'Identification of a Novel Fungus, Trichoderma Asperellum GDFS1009, and Comprehensive Evaluation of Its Biocontrol Efficacy'. *PLoS ONE* 12 (6): e0179957. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179957.

Yang, Yiling, Boping Fang, Shujie Feng, Zhangying Wang, Zhongxia Luo, Zhufang Yao, Hongda Zou, and Lifei Huang. 2021. 'Isolation and Identification of Trichoderma Asperellum, the Novel Causal Agent of Green Mold Disease in Sweetpotato'. *Plant Disease* 105 (6): 1711–18. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-07-20-1484-RE.